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          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Good afternoon.  I

          3  am Council Member Philip Reed, and this is a hearing

          4  of the Consumer Affairs Committee.  We have several

          5  different pieces of business that we want to try and

          6  address this afternoon.  Some that have been around

          7  for a while, and we have been patient in trying to

          8  get through a lot of other business in the Council.

          9  And so I appreciate the patience on the part of many

         10  people in the Administration and others.

         11                 We are going to first hear testimony

         12  about a name change of an agency in the City.  And

         13  then we are going to have an update from the

         14  Department of Consumer Affairs about the docketing

         15  authority and the bill that we just passed in City

         16  Council that was a Home Rule Message that we sent up

         17  to Albany and what that status is.  And then we are

         18  going to have a briefing, but it is open to the

         19  public as it relates to predatory lending

         20  legislation and what that status is, because I know

         21  that many of my colleagues, to say nothing of the

         22  public, are interested in where that legislation

         23  that we introduced near the beginning of the year

         24  was.

         25                 So I appreciate, I know it is hot,
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          2  and we are all trying to get out of session a little

          3  bit, but I appreciate everybody being here.  Let me

          4  introduce my colleagues, Council Member John Liu

          5  from Queens, and Council Member Charles, carry the

          6  load, Barron from Brooklyn, Council Member Sanders

          7  from Queens, and Council Member Oliver Koppell from

          8  the Bronx.  Oh, she was just looking for the other

          9  meeting, okay.  And some other colleagues might

         10  wander in looking for Contracts, they are not lost,

         11  they just need to go over to 50.

         12                 So thank you and good morning,

         13  Commissioner Maldonado.

         14                 COMMISSIONER MALDONADO:  Good

         15  afternoon, Chairman Reed and Committee members.

         16  Thank you for the opportunity to testify on behalf

         17  of Intro. 177- A.  When I appeared before you on May

         18  9th, I mentioned the issue of the agency's name,

         19  which the bill presently before you would change to

         20  the Business Integrity Commission.

         21                 Several months ago, Mayor Bloomberg

         22  announced his desire to see the agency's name

         23  changed to omit the reference to organized crime.  I

         24  concur wholeheartedly with the Mayor's position.

         25                 My agency is charged with licensing
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          2  and regulating the Trade Waste Industry, the

          3  business is located in the City's seven public

          4  wholesale markets and shipboard gambling.  The

          5  owners and employees of the businesses that fall

          6  within our regulatory purview include people of

          7  varied backgrounds who hail from many places.  They

          8  are a cross- section of this big, diverse, vibrant

          9  city.  Among them are many upstanding business

         10  people, and if we are to be honest, some who are not

         11  the solid citizens we would wish them to be.

         12                 That having been said, the problem

         13  with the name we are trying to shed, the Organized

         14  Crime Control Commission, is that it tars all of the

         15  businesses we regulate with the unsavory brush of

         16  organized crime.  That is patently unfair to honest

         17  business owners and their employees, the law-

         18  abiding majority, who play by the rules and seek

         19  only to earn a living.

         20                 Changing the agency's name to the

         21  Business Integrity Commission removes the stigma of

         22  criminality from the businesses we regulate, while

         23  in no way impairing our mission of overseeing trade

         24  waste, shipboard gambling and the public wholesale

         25  markets.  We intend to establish an agency that is
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          2  at once vigorous and evenhanded, one that protects

          3  customers and the public, while fostering an even

          4  playing field for competition.  Changing the name to

          5  the Business Integrity Commission will help us

          6  convey what we are about.  I urge you to vote for

          7  this bill.

          8                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          9  testify here today.  And I would be happy to answer

         10  any questions you may have.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you very

         12  much.  I may have called you Commissioner when you

         13  are Chairman.  Is there a distinction here, is it

         14  Chairman of this or?

         15                 COMMISSIONER MALDONADO:  I believe

         16  when I preside over the Commission the title is

         17  Chairman, and in terms with my day- to- day

         18  oversight of the agency, Commissioner.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  But Chairman of

         20  the Commission?

         21                 COMMISSIONER MALDONADO:  Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay, thank you.

         23  And Mr. Chairman, would you just tell us a little

         24  bit about your background?

         25                 COMMISSIONER MALDONADO:  Sure, I am a
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          2  native New Yorker, born and raised in the City.  I

          3  began my career in public service in 1986 when I

          4  left a private practice of law and joined the

          5  Manhattan District Attorney's Office where I served

          6  as an Assistant District Attorney.  I have held

          7  numerous positions in City government.  I was an

          8  Assistant Commissioner in the Police Department's

          9  Legal Bureau.  I have had the privilege of

         10  overseeing a number of City agencies, the Department

         11  of Juvenile Justice, the Department of Consumer

         12  Affairs.  And before being asked by Mayor Bloomberg

         13  to take on this new challenge, I was the Deputy

         14  Attorney General in charge of the State's Medicaid

         15  Fraud Control Unit where I worked for three years

         16  for Attorney General Elliot Spitzer.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.  Are

         18  there questions from my colleagues?

         19                 Council Member Davis from Brooklyn

         20  has also joined us, thank you.

         21                 No, hearing no others, thank you very

         22  much.

         23                 COMMISSIONER MALDONADO:  Thank you

         24  very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Because of the
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          2  nature of having three hearings simultaneously, I

          3  want to try to call this Intro. No. 177- A, I want

          4  to call that to a vote now, because I know that many

          5  of my colleagues need to get off to the other

          6  Committees, et cetera, et cetera.

          7                 So the name change, which is Intro.

          8  No. 177- A, which the Chairman just testified to.

          9  And I do not see anybody else here to testify about

         10  the name change.  No?  Will the clerk call the roll

         11  on this question, please?

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Reed.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Aye.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Barron.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Aye.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Davis.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  Aye.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Koppell.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Liu.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Sanders.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK:  By a vote of 6 in the

         25  affirmative, 0 in the negative, and no abstentions,
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          2  the item is adopted.  Please sign the Committee

          3  report, and the vote is still open.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you very

          5  much.  Just give us a moment, thank you.  Maybe we

          6  will change our order of business here, and give the

          7  Commissioner a few.  Is there somebody here from the

          8  Administration to chat with us about this Docketing

          9  Authority, et cetera, and the bill that we just

         10  recently passed?

         11                 Before we hear from the people that

         12  are here to testify from the Administration, I have

         13  asked our, the Counsel to the Committee, David

         14  Suchman, to give us a very brief reminder, update of

         15  where we were the last couple of weeks in terms of

         16  the Council's own legislation.

         17                 MR. SUCHMAN:  After receiving a

         18  Preconsidered Mayor's Message, which was N- 180 on

         19  June 20th, 2002, the New York City Council passed a

         20  Home Rule Message, which was forwarded to the New

         21  York State Senate and Assembly, which would amend

         22  the New York City Charter to authorize the

         23  Department of Consumer Affairs to conduct

         24  administrative hearings with respect to violations

         25  of laws and rules under its jurisdiction, render
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          2  decisions and order and imposed civil penalties.

          3  Such penalties would not exceed $500 per violation,

          4  except to the extent otherwise provided by law.

          5                 Furthermore, the legislation would

          6  accord DCA docketing authority, making any final DCA

          7  order imposing a civil penalty a judgement that may

          8  be entered in Civil Court, streamlining its

          9  procedures with respect to collecting fines.  In

         10  order to implement DCA's docketing authority the

         11  proposed legislation would also amend the County Law

         12  authorizing the County Clerks in New York City to

         13  maintain separate judgement docket volumes

         14  containing the printed transcript or transcripts in

         15  alphabetical order of judgement made entered and

         16  docketed in Civil Court on behalf of DCA.

         17                 Now there were a number of other

         18  provisions contained in this Home Rule Message, but

         19  that was it as to docketing authority.  And on June

         20  20th, 2002, it is our understanding that the New

         21  York State Senate passed the Home Rule Message and

         22  delivered it to the Assembly.  And on June 21st,

         23  2002 that Home Rule Message was referred to the

         24  Committee on Consumer Affairs and Protection in the

         25  Assembly where it sits presently.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.  And I

          3  know I am somewhat confused about some of the

          4  language that we have used, and since we rushed this

          5  through, like it was at 11 o'clock at night, could

          6  you describe what docketing power means?

          7                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Presently, the Consumer

          8  Affairs Department has to take its judgements to

          9  court and get them docketed.  By sending this Home

         10  Rule Message, the Department of Consumer Affairs is

         11  hoping that it can streamline that process and

         12  docket these matters much quicker, which would allow

         13  collection of approximately $6 million worth of

         14  fines that have yet to be collected because of this

         15  lengthy process that they have to go through at the

         16  present time.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And that is, then

         18  the relationship to that to the hearing authority?

         19                 MR. SUCHMAN:  The Hearing Authority

         20  is something that the Department has also requested,

         21  for several years I believe, it is something that

         22  would allow, again, a streamline process where they

         23  would not have to send any of these matters over to

         24  hearings in court.  They could hold the hearings as

         25  administrative hearings within their own house, and
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          2  then using the docketing authority streamline the

          3  entire process to expedite the collection of

          4  revenue.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Docketing

          6  authority, the bill that we passed is to speak to

          7  that, the Hearing Authority, right?

          8                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Actually, both measures

          9  were contained inside the Home Rule Message, with

         10  docketing authority lying within the specter of the

         11  New York State Legislature to grant that power to

         12  the City in order to gain the docketing authority.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So we did not need

         14  the State Legislature to have the Hearing Authority,

         15  we needed to have the docketing; is that it?

         16                 MR. SUCHMAN:  In essence, yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.

         18  Council Member Davis had a comment that he needed to

         19  make, because I know he has to get back to, at

         20  least, one other hearing today.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  Thank you so

         22  much, Councilman Phil Reed.  Because I have to go

         23  next door to another hearing, I just wanted to state

         24  that I am very fortunate to be a member of the

         25  Consumer Affairs Committee.  I work with some
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          2  outstanding colleagues and under the fine leadership

          3  of Councilman Phil Reed.  So we are committed to the

          4  process, as the hearing goes forth.  We will be

          5  reviewing all the information, and I just want to

          6  say, thank you, again, and be politely excused to go

          7  next door to continue to serve the citizens of our

          8  great City.  Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Any time you

         10  praise the Chair, you could be excused right after

         11  that.  Thank you very much.

         12                 I know that Council Member Barron is

         13  also there, we will let you know when we get to the

         14  other issue of predatory lending, because I think

         15  you might want to hear this update.  I know there is

         16  a lot of concern about where we are, so we will, at

         17  least send someone over to tell you that is what we

         18  are going to discuss.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  Okay, we will

         20  be right next door, and any important information,

         21  like I said, I would be happy to review it.  Thank

         22  you so much for your leadership, Councilman Phil

         23  Reed.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.  Thank

         25  you, would you identify yourselves?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  My

          3  name is Pauline Toole.  I am an Assistant

          4  Commissioner at the City's Department of Consumer

          5  Affairs.

          6                 MR. EILER:  I am Andrew Eiler.  I am

          7  the Chief Research Analyst for the Department of

          8  Consumer Affairs.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  We just heard,

         10  thank you, we just heard from our General Counsel

         11  about what we, in the Legislature, this Legislature,

         12  was asked to do and we responded to that

         13  administrative request, and so I am interested today

         14  in understanding where we are, what is the status of

         15  our Home Rule Message in Albany?  And from that,

         16  then how is Consumer Affairs moving forward.

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Thank

         18  you for this opportunity to come and answer the

         19  questions.  As your Counsel stated the Senate

         20  expeditiously acted and passed the Senate version of

         21  the bill, and the Assembly had not yet acted.  We

         22  are under the impression that the Assembly will be

         23  back in Albany on July 26th or there about, and we

         24  are hopeful that they take the bill up then.  It is

         25  in the Consumer Affairs' Committee, the staff of the
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          2  Committee relayed some questions to us that dealt

          3  not with the docketing part of the bill, but with

          4  the Hearing Authority part of the bill, and there

          5  were concerns about due process.  We reviewed their

          6  questions and looked at the DCA's procedures for

          7  holding administrative hearings now, compared them

          8  to procedures that are used by other City agencies

          9  and were able to answer all their questions showing

         10  that we either had the same protections or more

         11  protections under the existing procedures than they

         12  were asking for.  So we are hopeful that it gets

         13  passed soon.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Can you give us an

         15  example of some of those concerns that they had?

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Well,

         17  one question was about subpoena power, whether or

         18  not the defendant business would be able to subpoena

         19  witnesses, and the answer is, absolutely yes, they

         20  could go to the administrative judge and get

         21  subpoenas issued just as the DCA would have to go to

         22  the administrative judge to get subpoenas issued.

         23                 Another example would be whether

         24  there was a statutory time limit for, between when

         25  the notices served and when hearings are held?  And
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          2  there are rules, but the Assembly wanted to have a

          3  sort of set period of, or the staff was interested

          4  in the set four- week period.  And for some people

          5  that is really for the businesses, that is not a

          6  very good way of doing business because their

          7  materials get confiscated, and they want to hold the

          8  hearing as quickly as possible, not wait four weeks.

          9                 So those are two examples, we can

         10  give you all of them.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Who confiscates

         12  the material?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  For

         14  example, if you are a Home Improvement Contractor,

         15  the DCA's Enforcement Staff may well confiscate your

         16  truck and tools.  And you would not want to wait

         17  four weeks for a hearing, you would want to have it

         18  immediately so that you could resolve the issue and

         19  get back to work if possible.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So those were the

         21  principal concerns?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  There

         23  were 14 questions, and we have copies of them, if

         24  you would like.  But they all dealt with these due

         25  process issues, whether there was default procedure,
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          2  whether there was a fine structure, which you know

          3  is almost two inches thick, the schedule of fines

          4  that the DCA - -

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  What was the

          6  question about the fine structure?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  The

          8  question was whether or not we would establish a

          9  fine structure in case of default, and whether we

         10  would allow the Administrative Law judges to use

         11  discretion rather than imposing the maximum penalty?

         12    And we need to follow the statutory scheme, the

         13  two inches of fines.  And we asserted that the

         14  Administrative Law judges have discretion within

         15  that structure.  So if you set a minimum, the

         16  Council set the fees, a minimum and a maximum.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  The Council sets

         18  the fees?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:

         20  Generally, yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Give me an example

         22  of that?  And what you are saying is that the

         23  hearing, the officer has some flexibility in this?

         24  I know these were concerns that were raised when we

         25  passed the bill, again, as I said, sort of at the
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          2  last minute.  I am trying to get on the record some

          3  assurances so that many of us go back to our

          4  communities, we can say that, you know, that there

          5  is some, people are not going to find themselves in

          6  an arbitrary position where one person is getting a

          7  fine for X dollars, and the other one is paying

          8  three times the amount of money for the same

          9  infraction.  So explain that a little bit more for

         10  me.

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  I am

         12  going to look to Andy for an example, but the fines

         13  are set by statute by the City Council.  And the fee

         14  structure, the fine structure itself, is when you

         15  print it out, it is about an inch and a half, or two

         16  inches thick.  And within any particular violation,

         17  there may well be a minimum and a maximum.

         18                 Andy, give an example.

         19                 MR. EILER:  Andrew Eiler, Chief

         20  Research Analyst for the Department.  Every single

         21  statute sets out what the penalties are.  So the

         22  Council has specifies, or when we enforce State Law

         23  the State Law specifies, exactly what the penalty

         24  can be imposed.  Most of the time the fines are

         25  established by saying a mandatory minimum, say $50
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          2  for an unknowing violation of the Consumer

          3  Protection Law, and then there is up to a maximum

          4  $300.  And then there is actually, under the

          5  Consumer Protection Law, there is a schedule of

          6  three types of violations, unknowing violation, a

          7  knowing violation, and a deliberate violation.  And

          8  each one of there - -

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I am sorry, today

         10  I am having a hard time hearing.  The first one is

         11  unknowing, you said?

         12                 MR. EILER:  Yes, in other words, not

         13   - -

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  You

         15  good up.

         16                 MR. EILER:  I am using, basically it

         17  is not a knowing violation, it is basically, simply

         18  a violation without having to prove, the Department

         19  would not have to prove intent.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I thought you said

         21  an annoying violation, so I was trying to understand

         22  the difference.

         23                 MR. EILER:  Oh, I am sorry.  So it

         24  is, simply a violation.

         25                 Then the second is if the business
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          2  engages in a knowing violation, that is a more

          3  serious penalty and a more serious penalty structure

          4  is imposed.

          5                 And then there is a persistent

          6  violation, and that is when someone does it

          7  deliberately over a long period, then the penalties

          8  go up further.

          9                 So you really have three sets of

         10  schedules that one can use here.  But the

         11  Legislature, the Council, set the minimum and the

         12  maximum.  So the judges would operate within - -

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  The minimum and

         14  the maximum for all three, for each one of those?

         15                 MR. EILER:  For each one of those.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Distinctly for

         17  those - -

         18                 MR. EILER:  Each one of those

         19  categories - -

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Three categories.

         21  Thank you.

         22                 MR. EILER: - -  has a minimum.  So

         23  basically, the judges operate within that framework.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  You said that

         25  there was 50 and then 300, is it?
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          2                 MR. EILER:  I think 50 and 300 is for

          3  the first one.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So then it cost

          5  more money as we go up.  The deliberate one could be

          6  more than $300?

          7                 MR. EILER:  That is correct.  So

          8  basically, and then for the persistent, then there

          9  are other penalties that we an recover on behalf of

         10  the consumers and a number of other things are

         11  triggered when you get into that situation.

         12                 But every single licensing statute,

         13  every single other statute that we have, the fine

         14  structure or the fines are specified in the statute.

         15    So the Department can only proceed with the fine

         16  structure that exists.

         17                 And what Assistant Commissioner Toole

         18  said, the thick book, that gives the discretion to

         19  the judges as kind of a guideline within the

         20  structure established by law what they should

         21  consider fining for different kinds of violations

         22  that occur within all the different laws the

         23  Department enforces.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And is it the

         25  thinking of your agency to review these fine
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          2  structures?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Yes,

          4  it is, and we are beginning that process now.  At a

          5  minimum I think we would, as we have begun the

          6  review, at a minimum we think that the Council,

          7  which would have to set the fees of the fines, might

          8  want to look at the inflationary factor, because

          9  most of the fines and fees were set in the early

         10  eighties, and obviously, the value of the dollar has

         11  changed.  So we may well recommend to you for your

         12  consideration a structure that would adjust for

         13  inflation.

         14                 And we are contemplating also looking

         15  at recidivist behavior, and we do not know exactly

         16  where we are going with that.  But I think we would

         17  like to see a structure that would penalize people

         18  who would knowingly break the law over and over

         19  again.  But once again, that would fall to the

         20  Council to actually act on.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  That is something

         22  different than the persistent category that we were

         23  talking about?

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Well I

         25  think persistent and recidivist is pretty much the
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          2  same thing.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  My question is

          4  that we already have that as a category?

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  You

          6  do.  You do, and I think we are trying to look at

          7  the actual practice under the existing fine

          8  structure to determine whether the categories work

          9  as deterrents, or whether or not it is just those,

         10  even the persistent, the fine for persistent

         11  violators has just become the cost of doing

         12  business.  So we are in the middle of trying to

         13  figure that out.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And so it is your

         15  expectation that the Assembly will pass their part

         16  of this in the next few weeks when they return?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  That

         18  is certainly our fondest expectation.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  That is based on

         20  your response to these questions.

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And so, and then

         23  the Governor will sign this bill?

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  I

         25  would hope so.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  You have not heard

          3  to the - -

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: We have

          5  not heard from the Governor.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: - -  to the

          7  contrary?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  No.

          9  But the other thing I wanted to say, Councilman, is

         10  when we, when the Council passed the Home Rule

         11  Message, the Commissioner engaged in a discussion

         12  and has developed what we call our Memorandum of

         13  Understanding with the City Council.  And that, I

         14  think, has three components that would perhaps

         15  mitigate some of the concerns of businesses and

         16  various communities around the City.

         17                 1.  Is just the widespread

         18  educational effort to explain to businesses what the

         19  laws are and how they need to comply with them.  And

         20  that we will be able to hold hearings on the laws

         21  that we cannot currently enforce, we can enforced,

         22  we cannot currently hear, so that they understand

         23  that.

         24                 2.  There would be a nine- month - -

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Cannot currently
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          2  hear, but would be able to after we pass this

          3  legislation?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Yes.

          5  They are principally Consumer Protection Law

          6  violations.  Under the areas of the law that we

          7  currently can enforce and hold hearings on, we would

          8  continue to enforce the law and hold hearings.  But

          9  on the new areas of the law, when there were

         10  violations, we would issue curable tickets, so that

         11  the businesses would understand what the violation

         12  was and how they could the solve the problem, but

         13  there would be no penalty for those actions for a

         14  nine- month period.  And then finally, we would

         15  experiment with the variety of kinds of nail and

         16  mail, - -

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  This is all part

         18  of the Memorandum of Understanding that you have

         19  with this Council?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Which I will

         22  confess, as the Chair, I have not seen, so I will

         23  both ask our Counsel.  And one of the reasons I am

         24  asking you all these questions is that we took all

         25  of this on good faith at 11 o'clock at night.  The
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          2  Chair was not particularly pleased that after our

          3  initial conversation in January at our meeting that

          4  we talked about this being of concern, and I know my

          5  colleagues on this Committee thought that we would

          6  be reviewing this in some sort of deliberate manner.

          7    And the next thing I know it was 5 o'clock in the

          8  afternoon and I was asked to sign off on a bill and

          9  help walk it through the State and Federal

         10  Legislation Committee.  And I think that Council

         11  Member Baez took an act of leap in faith in doing

         12  this.  So I guess you can take this as an

         13  admonishment, you can take it as anything you want,

         14  but while I recognize it has to go through that

         15  Committee, I do not want to see, and I do not think

         16  any of my colleagues want to see any more

         17  legislation that relates to Consumer Affairs bypass

         18  this Committee and some deliberative discussion

         19  about how this is conducted in our neighborhoods.

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Yes,

         21  Sir.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  That is why I am

         23  trying to understand where we are and continue to

         24  have this faith in our relationship here.  But, has

         25  anybody on this Committee seen this Memorandum?
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          2                 MR. SUCHMAN:  No, Sir.

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Well

          4  we will ensure that it is delivered to all of you

          5  today.  It takes a form of a letter from the

          6  Commissioner, but I will make sure that you all get

          7  a copy.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Has the letter

          9  been written yet?

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Yes,

         11  Sir.  I have a copy of the letter to Councilwoman

         12  Baez with me, and that is basically the form of the

         13  Memorandum.

         14                 But as for your admonishment, we will

         15  take that to heart.  We are - -

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you, because

         17  I do not want to beat you up any more, Pauline.  But

         18  she, and I respect that she chairs that Committee.

         19  I chair this Committee, and these colleagues serve

         20  on this Committee, that is what Consumer Affairs is

         21  all about.  We are the ones that have to go out

         22  there and explain to people what this Memorandum of

         23  Understanding is all about.

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Okay.

         25  I think we have dropped the ball, and we will pick
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          2  it up and we will not drop it again.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.  Well I

          4  think we are looking forward to getting this

          5  business passed in the Assembly.

          6                 Are there any other questions from my

          7  colleagues?  Council Member Liu.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Thank you, Mr.

          9  Chair.  And I would agree with the comments that

         10  Chairman Reed has just enunciated.  I think, I for

         11  one was very disturbed at 11 o'clock at night that

         12  day that we were talking about that piece of

         13  legislation.  To, for the first time, find out that

         14  there was a provision that would basically give the

         15  Department of Consumer Affairs the Authority to

         16  enforce a law that really had not been enforced for

         17  over 80 years, at this point.  And a law that is

         18  very little known in the communities, particularly

         19  in the immigrant business communities.

         20                 Let me back up a little bit and say

         21  that I think the Department of Consumer Affairs, Mr.

         22  Chair, does a very fine job in the charge that you

         23  are, in the responsibilities that you are charged

         24  with upholding.  And so I do commend you for the

         25  efforts that you have undertaken all over the City,
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          2  and in particular in my neck of the woods.  But I am

          3  very concerned about this legislation that would

          4  basically label as a deceptive trade practice, and

          5  the failure to publicly reveal and display in

          6  English, as required by law, the true name of the

          7  proprietors or owners of any shop, et cetera.

          8                 I think that when you say it is

          9  required by law, it is currently required by law.

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Yes,

         11  Sir.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  And I had asked

         13  Commissioner Dykstra at that 11 o'clock hearing when

         14  that was enacted into law.  And I believe that was

         15  enacted into State Law in 1903 or 1905, something

         16  like that.  Yes.  And as far as anybody's memory

         17  could serve, that that is a law that really had not

         18  been enforced.

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  I

         20  believe that that is true, yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  And so now when

         22  we talk about revitalizing a law that really has not

         23  had the full effect of law for so long that the

         24  commensurate amount of public education must be

         25  undertaken to the fullest extent.
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          2                 I am worried about this for two

          3  reasons, the first reason as I stated that I have

          4  not heard about any effort along these lines until

          5  that very late night meeting.  And the second, that

          6  when you say, well, when we say in this Committee,

          7  or when we say in this report put out by the staff

          8  of this Committee that it is required by law, that

          9  we be careful about what that phrase actually means.

         10    Because I do not believe that a law that has been

         11  on the books for a hundred years, and has not been

         12  enforced in anybody's memory is actually still a

         13  law.  And I think that there are many other examples

         14  of laws that are severely outdated and do not really

         15  belong on the books any more.

         16                 So, Mr. Chair, that is something that

         17  I believe this Committee should be concerned with.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Thank

         20  you.  Could I, just on the community education

         21  piece, we are going to make that a key component of

         22  the widespread community education we do.  And there

         23  is a value to consumers to know the name of the

         24  business and the name of the proprietor of a

         25  business.  And the law, I understand the sensitivity
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          2  that you are expressing, and the law, as we read it,

          3  would require shopkeepers to post in the window the

          4  name and how a person could contact them, if there

          5  were a need to do that.  But we also understand that

          6  this could be seen differently depending on the

          7  community that you are in, and so we will move to

          8  educate communities about the purpose of the law,

          9  and we will move to enforce it with the sensitivity

         10  that I think you would be happy with.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  I would be very

         12  happy to work with you on the sensitivity aspect of

         13  educating and subsequently enforcing this law.  All

         14  I can say is that immediately before this meeting I

         15  stopped at City Bank across the street, I looked at

         16  every single part of that window, could not see any

         17  of the information that is required.  I went down

         18  the street to the pizza joint, nothing was labeled.

         19  I went further around the block to the shoeshine

         20  place, nothing is in the windows.  And so, I am not

         21  sure, and when I go to 34th Street to the big

         22  Macy's, I cannot claim that I have seen every square

         23  inch of all the windows they have there at Herald

         24  Square, but I would be surprised if any of this

         25  information was posted on any of the windows on
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          2  Macy's.

          3                 My point being that this really is a

          4  law that has not been in effect, and so when we talk

          5  about enforcing it has got to be really educated

          6  about and enforced way across the board.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  You said in the

          8  Memorandum of Understanding, you have a copy of that

          9  here.  I ask our Sergeant- At- Arms, if it is all

         10  right with you, if he could make some copies so we

         11  could review it while it is fresh, unless you have

         12  all sorts of notes on it, like I do?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  I have

         14  a clean copy.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  There you go,

         16  thank you.  You said that, I am not sure what you

         17  said, was it that you are going to start this

         18  consumer or the business education in 90 days, or

         19  you are going to do it for 90 days, what was that

         20  again?

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  We are

         22  beginning it now, even if the Assembly does not pass

         23  the bill, it is to our benefit for all businesses to

         24  understand what the laws are.  We cannot, we are not

         25  yet doing the curable ticket part, it will take us a

                                                            33

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  will to figure out how to issue those, but we are

          3  moving to do that now.  The next, the end of July we

          4  are doing a seminar for all, there is an association

          5  for air business, mostly bodegas, and that is one of

          6  the first ones, and we are trying to set up a

          7  session in the Central Bronx, early on.  But we will

          8  do as many as we can fit in, and that is, our goal

          9  is to start now.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I think that is

         11  worthy, and I think when you talked before that you

         12  said, and if you did not, I would like you to make

         13  sure that the all the Council members know about

         14  these.  I think, if I remember Council Member Lopez

         15  and others said that we would be happy as individual

         16  Council members to get the word out to people about

         17  these trainings.  And so, certainly, not just this

         18  Committee, but in fact, all of the Council I think

         19  would like to know what that schedule is.  And you

         20  certainly heard from Council Member Liu and others,

         21  most effective perhaps you reach out to them before

         22  we do so we can make sure we have the broadest

         23  amount of participation.

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  We have been
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          2  joined by Council Members Gale Brewer from Manhattan

          3  and Joe Addabbo from Queens.  Council Member Brewer.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you.  I

          5  have, it is more of a comment for the Committee than

          6  for DCA.  DCA has always done, and I know you will

          7  do a lot more of education.  But it is interesting

          8  to me that this morning at the Housing and Buildings

          9  Committee we had Fire and we had Buildings, and

         10  there is a Mayoral bill that would amend the

         11  sprinklers and certain location places for hazardous

         12  materials, hardware stores and so on.  Bottom line

         13  is education is needed.  The law, I assume, time

         14  will go on we will pass some version of it.  So we

         15  are having the same conversation this morning that

         16  we are having now.  And I just thought that it might

         17  be helpful for the City Council and for Mayoral

         18  agencies, somebody to say let's all sit down.  So

         19  you are going to have Consumer Affairs going out to

         20  do education, then you are going to have the

         21  Buildings Department going out to do education, the

         22  same small business people, then you are going to

         23  have the Fire Department, so I point this out

         24  because it really was a very similar discussion this

         25  morning.
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          2                 The merchant on the other end is

          3  trying to figure out what he has to pay, what she

          4  has to do.  And this morning, no surprise to me as

          5  somewhat knowledgeable about technology, the

          6  Buildings Department database and the Fire

          7  Department database are completely different, and so

          8  the permit situation, you know, hazardous waste list

          9  that the Fire Department has is not available to the

         10  Buildings Department, et cetera.

         11                 So can you like talk about this

         12  internally and figure out a way that as these laws

         13  pass and as they change the small merchant is not

         14  visited by six different agencies, and maybe, I know

         15  that DOITT is trying to come up with a listing that

         16  could be shared with elected officials and the

         17  community boards, for instance, as to what we need

         18  to do.  So it is just a suggestion.

         19                 Thank you very much.

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  It is

         21  a very good suggestion, we will pursue it.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Thank
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          2  you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Yes, thank you.

          4  Next we are going to have an overview of where, what

          5  has happened over the last several months since we

          6  last publicly, or in this session or in this chamber

          7  reviewed the legislation of predatory lending.  So I

          8  have asked our Counsel to come and give us that

          9  update about an important piece of legislation that

         10  I know they have and the Administration has been

         11  working, as well as what is known as the advocates'

         12  community to try to come together with something

         13  that we think is both progressive and productive and

         14  positive to follow it all the way through.

         15                 So would you three, please, identify

         16  yourself.  Maybe, actually, hold on just a minute

         17  for me for a second.  My colleague has been kind

         18  enough to offer me refreshment, he thinks I have

         19  ignored and he is taking it back now, see, we are

         20  trying to work together.

         21                 Please, identify yourselves.

         22                 MR. SUCHMAN:  David Suchman, Counsel

         23  to the Consumer Affairs Committee.

         24                 MR. GRAHAM:  John Graham, General

         25  Counsel's Office.

                                                            37

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 MS. JACKSON:  Tish Jackson, General

          3  Counsel's Office.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Mr. Suchman.

          5                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Good afternoon.  At the

          6  request of Speaker Miller and Chairman Reed, I am

          7  here today with John Graham and Tish Jackson of the

          8  General Counsel's Office to update the Committee on

          9  predatory lending legislation that was passed by the

         10  New York State Senate and the New York State

         11  Assembly in the last few weeks.  Speaker Miller has

         12  repeatedly said that because Albany has the ability

         13  to regulate the banking industry, it is the best

         14  vehicle to address the problem of predatory lending.

         15    However, if Albany does not act and pass

         16  appropriate legislation, the New York City Council

         17  is and will continue to address the issue of

         18  predatory lending to redoing business law.

         19                 The City of New York will not do

         20  business with institutions and engage directly or

         21  indirectly in predatory lending practices.  The

         22  issue of predatory lending has led to the

         23  introduction of legislation across the country on

         24  how to curb abuses in the high cost home loan

         25  lending market.  The New York City Council Committee
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          2  of Consumer Affairs explored this issue by holding a

          3  hearing on April 1st, 2002 on Introductory Bill 67,

          4  and on May 6th, 2002 on proposed Introductory Bill

          5  No. 67- A.  Both bills will prohibit New York City

          6  from doing business with institutions that engage

          7  directly or indirectly in predatory lending

          8  practices.  In many respects the Council's proposed

          9  Introductory bill parallel New York State Assembly

         10  No. 7828- A, which was passed by the New York State

         11  Assembly last year on July 17th, 2001.  Ultimately,

         12  the New York State Senate did not act on 7828- A,

         13  and it was returned to the Assembly on January 9th,

         14  2002.

         15                 After re- examining the issue of

         16  predatory lending this year, the New York State

         17  Assembly passed Assembly Bill No. 11856 on June 6th,

         18  2002.  This new predatory lending legislation

         19  differs in many respects from 7828- A, the bill from

         20  last year that the Assembly had passed, by among

         21  other things changing the annual percentage rate

         22  threshold, definitions of points and fees, and the

         23  financing of points and fees.  The New York State

         24  Senate then passed 11856 on July 2nd, 2002.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Just a minute.
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          2  The bill the Senate passed is parallel to the most

          3  recent Assembly bill?

          4                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Yes, they are both

          5  11856, however, the Senate while passing 11856 also

          6  passed something they call in Albany as Chapter

          7  amendments, and that was based on amendments

          8  contained in Senate Bill No. 7840.

          9                 These Chapter amendments contain

         10  language that would effectively preempt

         11  municipalities, such as New York City, from enacting

         12  any local law that would regulate the terms of home

         13  loans or make the eligibility of any person or

         14  entity to do business with the municipality

         15  dependent upon the terms of the home loan originated

         16  or serviced by the entity.  The Senate forwarded

         17  these Chapter amendments to 11856 to the Assembly on

         18  July 2nd, 2002, and as of this date, as of the date

         19  of this hearing, the Assembly has not acted on them.

         20    As of July 8th, 2002, yesterday and today,

         21  Governor Pataki has not signed 11856 into law.

         22                 At this time I will turn the

         23  presentation over to John Graham, who will take the

         24  Committee through a comparison of 7828- A, 11856,

         25  and the Chapter amendments contained in Senate 7840,
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          2  as well as our proposed Introductory Bill No. 67- A.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you, but

          4  before you do that, John, I just want to make sure I

          5  understand this.  The Assembly introduced a new bill

          6  this year, they passed it.  The Senate passed a bill

          7  similar to that just recently, right?

          8                 MR. SUCHMAN:  The Senate passed the

          9  exact same bill, 11856.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  The same bill.

         11  Okay, so, now separate in the Senate, and maybe my

         12  colleague from his previous life in the State

         13  Legislature could help us walk through this,

         14  separately the Senate introduced or passed these

         15  amendments to this bill?

         16                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Correct, essentially

         17  what the Senate did - -

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  They introduced

         19  them or they passed them?

         20                 MR. SUCHMAN:  They passed them.  It

         21  was introduced and passed.  It was based on language

         22  that was contained in Senate Bill 7840 that had

         23  already been introduced.  When the Senate went ahead

         24  and passed Assembly Bill 11856, after they passed

         25  that bill, they then passed Senate 7840 as Chapter
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          2  amendments to 11856.  So I know this is all

          3  confusing, but essentially 11856 has been passed by

          4  both houses, and can be forwarded to the Governor

          5  for his signature.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Without the

          7  amendments?

          8                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Without the amendments,

          9  correct.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And the amendments

         11  cannot be moved up to the Governor until the

         12  Assembly were to vote on them.

         13                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Correct.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  With that exact

         15  language, right?

         16                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Correct.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Council Member

         18  Sanders has a question.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Thank you,

         20  Mr. Chair.  If I understand the journey, there was

         21  an attempt to reconcile both of these bills, if you

         22  wish, and this is why the language, the amendments

         23  was passed.

         24                 MR. SUCHMAN:  I cannot speak to the

         25  intent of what the State Legislature was deciding
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          2  when they did this, all I know is that they did pass

          3  11856, and the Senate amendments are, from reports

          4  that we have read, are changes that the Senate would

          5  like to see in the bill.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  If I may,

          7  Chairman.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Please, Council

          9  member.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Just to

         11  explain, I think, Mr. Chairman, you expressed it

         12  correctly.  I think that Mr. Sanders maybe

         13  understood it correctly, but I think did not express

         14  it correctly.  Obviously, in order to become law

         15  both houses have to pass exactly the bill.  Apparent

         16  from this report the Assembly and Senate both have

         17  passed 11856, exactly the same bill.  However, the

         18  Senate, obviously, was not happy with all of the

         19  provisions of 11856, and therefore, passed its own

         20  changes, which we really have not heard described

         21  yet, except for one aspect of them, which is to try

         22  to stop us from doing anything else.  That is in the

         23  Senate's amendments.

         24                 There are other things, apparently,

         25  in the Senate amendments, which we will learn about
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          2  in a minute.  The Assembly has not yet taken up the

          3  Senate amendments.

          4                 If the Assembly does not take up the

          5  Chapter amendments, I suspect, although do not know,

          6  that the Governor probably would not sign the bill.

          7  I do not know that, and maybe the Counsel will

          8  inform us of that.  But the Chapter amendment, the

          9  bill could be signed without the Chapter amendment,

         10  the Chapter amendment would alter the bill, if

         11  passed by both houses and signed by the Governor.

         12                 So, I know my initial reaction to the

         13  Chapter amendment is not a happy one, because part

         14  of it says no matter what they do, we cannot do

         15  anything.  On the other hand, if what they are doing

         16  is terrific, maybe it does not matter that we cannot

         17  do anything.  So, I wait with some interest to hear

         18  exactly what they are doing.  But my initial

         19  reaction is not a happy one because I do not like

         20  being told I cannot do anything.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you, Council

         22  Member Koppell.  John.

         23                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         24  The table provides you, entitled, Predatory Lending:

         25    A Comparison of Proposed State and Local
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          2  Legislation, shows the key provisions of five pieces

          3  of legislation:

          4                 Council Intro. 67, which is in the

          5  second column.

          6                 Proposed Intro. 67- A in the third

          7  column, and it was the subject of a May 6th hearing

          8  held by this Committee.

          9                 Assembly Bill 7828, which is in the

         10  first column passed by the Assembly one year ago

         11  this July, and which in many respects served as a

         12  model for the Council legislation.

         13                 And the new Assembly Bill 11856

         14  passed, as has been said, by both the Assembly and

         15  the Senate in the last two weeks.

         16                 And in the last column, the end

         17  column, the fifth column, the Senate Chapter

         18  amendments contained in 7840.

         19                 I would just point out, although I am

         20  fully aware the members of this Committee know this,

         21  that none of these pieces of legislation has yet

         22  been enacted into law.  Assembly 11856 is awaiting a

         23  called by the Governor, and there is no certainty

         24  that he will sign it when it is sent to him.

         25                 However, in so far as Intro. 67 and
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          2  Proposed Intro. 67- A were modeled on the Assembly

          3  Bill of last year, is instructive to examine what

          4  departures were made by the Assembly in the current

          5  bill.  The table is divided into three sections, it

          6  does not purport to explain all the sections of the

          7  Assembly Bill, many of them do not apply to what the

          8  Council is trying to do, and that has to do with the

          9  fact they Council is considering a joined business

         10  bill.  Whereas, the State would be regulating

         11  banking practices.  But the three divisions are:

         12                 The thresholds for coverage.

         13                 Prohibited or restricted predatory or

         14  high cost loan practices.

         15                 And then the final section do comment

         16  on assignee liability.

         17                 And I would like to summarize the

         18  significant differences between the recent Albany

         19  legislation and the 7028, last year's bill, and

         20  Intro. 67- A.

         21                 To begin thresholds:  Thresholds

         22  define which sub- prime home loans are high- cost

         23  home loans to be covered by the restrictions of each

         24  piece of legislation.  There are two separate tracks

         25  for defining high- cost home loans, there is the
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          2  points and fees threshold, and the annual percentage

          3  rate, or APR threshold.  A loan to be a high- cost

          4  home loan need only meet one of these thresholds.

          5  And to point out some of the differences.

          6                 Assembly Bill 7828, the old Assembly

          7  Bill, stated that high- cost home loans would be

          8  those where the points and fees exceed 5 percent of

          9  the loan amount if the loan is over $20,000.

         10                 In the new Assembly Bill the 5

         11  percent has remained the same.  However, the loans

         12  it covers has been increased to those loans that are

         13  $50,000 of more.

         14                 Our Intro. Tracks the old Assembly

         15  Bill.

         16                 Points and fees:  The definition of

         17  points and fees includes discount points that are

         18  paid, all these things are either paid at or before

         19  the closing, discount points, service or carrying

         20  charges, the loan fee, the fee for an investigation

         21  or a credit report.  It also includes certain other

         22  charges, if in fact, they are paid directly or

         23  indirectly to the lender, such as a Title Abstract

         24  or the cost of preparing loan documentations.  All

         25  of these legislations define points and fees as
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          2  including those.

          3                 The old Assembly Bill and our Intro.

          4   - -

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  John, just a

          6  minute.  So the definition of that points and fees

          7  can be found in each one of these columns beginning

          8  where?

          9                 MR. SUCHMAN:  On page 2, and let me

         10  explain briefly.  The State Legislation as far as

         11  thresholds are concerned would amend the Banking

         12  Law.  The City Council Intros. Would amend the

         13  Administrative Code.

         14                 If you look on the second page in the

         15  first column, you will see the components of the

         16  definition of points and fees.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So where it says

         18  defines points and fees as including charges listed

         19  as 15, whatever U.S.C. Stands for, and all of that,

         20  that is the column you are talking about?

         21                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Yes.  And those first

         22  two points, that is 15 U.S.C., 1605(a), and the Code

         23  For Regulations, title 226.4, I just described

         24  those.  They are consistent throughout the

         25  legislation.
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          2                 Then when you get to (iii) all

          3  compensation paid directly or indirectly to the

          4  mortgage broker, that definition of points and fees

          5  is included in the old Assembly Bill, the new

          6  Assembly bill and our bills.  It is somewhat

          7  modified in the Senate Chapter amendments.  With the

          8  Senate Chapter amendments, they do not include the

          9  indirect or direct payments to the broker and

         10  definition of points and fees.  And in fact, they

         11  create a cushion or an exclusion of a payment that

         12  is made to brokers called the yield spread premium.

         13  A simple explanation of that is you go to a broker,

         14  the broker goes to the bank and gets you a loan at

         15  a, say 10, 12 percent, 14 percent.  Some portion of

         16  that percent is actually going to be a payment to

         17  the broker.  So, under other circumstances, say you

         18  had not gone through a broker, your loan might have

         19  been 10 instead of 12, okay.

         20                 The definition that we incorporate

         21  would include all those in the threshold

         22  calculation.  The Senate Chapter amendment would

         23  exclude 1 percent there, so you might say in those

         24  instances - -

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So what you are
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          2  saying in our bill, 67- A, as it was introduced in

          3  May, would exclude that cushion.

          4                 MR. SUCHMAN:  It would exclude the

          5  cushion, incorporate into the definition of points

          6  and fees, and therefore, get more loans subject to

          7  review.  And I just want to emphasize that, the

          8  point of threshold is on your continuum of home

          9  loans, which loans are going to be subject to our

         10  provision.  And the struggle, the legislative

         11  struggle here is to parse that line.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And so the Senate

         13  bill, if I may interrupt you, that was just passed,

         14  or the State legislation, since you said they are

         15  identical, allows for that additional 1 point?

         16                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Yes, in the yield

         17  spread premium, yes, it does.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And that is the

         19  bill that has been passed by both Houses.

         20                 MR. SUCHMAN:  No, the Senate Chapter

         21  amendments.  The Assembly bill that has just been

         22  passed is identical to the old Assembly bill and to

         23  our Intro. On this point.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So now these

         25  Chapter amendments are asking for that additional
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          2  point.

          3                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.

          5                 MR. SUCHMAN:  And I realize it is

          6  fairly, you know, it may seem somewhat obscure.  I

          7  think the reason to focus on it is that when you

          8  look at the legislation it says that the threshold

          9  will be, for points and fees, is 5 percent a loan.

         10  But when you examine the definition points and fees,

         11  you realize there is a difference between one 5

         12  percent and another 5 percent.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you,

         14  continue.

         15                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Okay, the fourth point

         16  in the definition of points and fees has to do with

         17  insurance premiums and all the legislation is

         18  consistent in including in the definition of points

         19  and fees something called single premium.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  In other words you

         21  mean this (iv).

         22                 MR. SUCHMAN:  (iv) yes.  They all

         23  include that.  On page 2.  And getting to (v) all

         24  prepayment penalties paid by a borrower, or if the

         25  lender or an affiliated of the lender made a
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          2  previous loan.  The prepayment penalty due also

          3  explain that, that is where you are going to

          4  refinance and the provisions of your old loan

          5  require that there be a penalty for prepaying.

          6  There is State legislation that, there is State Law,

          7  excuse me, that limits that.  But we, this is, it is

          8  included in the old Assembly bill, it is included in

          9  our Intros., we include that, and it was not

         10  included in the definition of points and fees in

         11  either the Assembly bill passed by both houses, or

         12  in the Senate Chapter amendments.

         13                 Moving on from that to the other

         14  threshold, which is somewhat more straightforward,

         15  and that is the APR threshold.  Yes, page 3.  I will

         16  not speak to the old Assembly bill, there was a

         17  technical problem with the way that it was defined.

         18  But our Intros. 67, 67- A, set the APR threshold as

         19  5 percent above the yield on U.S. Treasury

         20  Securities of comparable maturity to the mortgage

         21  that is being financed for a first mortgage, and

         22  equal to or more than 7 percent of the yield on U.S.

         23  Securities of comparable maturity for a junior

         24  mortgage, a second mortgage.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  A junior mortgage
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          2  means a second mortgage?

          3                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Other than a first

          4  mortgage, a subordinate mortgage.

          5                 Bill 11856, the Assembly Bill, and

          6  Senate 7840 raises the APR threshold to 8 percent

          7  for a first mortgage and 9 percent for a junior

          8  mortgage, and this puts it in line with the State

          9  Banking Regulations referred to as Part 41.  So they

         10  have increased the threshold.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay, could you

         12  tell me where in the Assembly Bill, you said, 11856?

         13                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Where does it say,

         15  oh, I see, okay.

         16                 MR. SUCHMAN:  It is in the fourth

         17  column.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I got it, I got

         19  it.

         20                 MR. SUCHMAN:  On page 3.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And our bill

         22  speaks to a different percentage.

         23                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Yes, a lower 5 percent

         24  above the yield on U.S. Securities of comparable

         25  maturity.  So we would be more inclusive in the
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          2  loans that we would review under our bill as - -   CHAIRPERSON

          3  REED:  So in simple, you are doing pretty good at

          4  trying to keep it simple, but our bill 67- A as the

          5  same as 67 as it speaks to the rate exceeds 5

          6  percent, which in the Assembly bill speaks to exceed

          7  8 percent, right?

          8                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Yes, that is correct.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And where we are

         10  talking back here, the first lien home loans equal

         11  or exceeds, that is the junior loan you are talking

         12  about?

         13                 MR. SUCHMAN:  No, the 8 percent has

         14  to do - -

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  No, no, I moved

         16  passed that, so the next one.

         17                 MR. SUCHMAN:  The next?  Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Right?  That is

         19  the first lien home loans, is that the same - -

         20                 MR. SUCHMAN:  No, first lien is a

         21  first mortgage.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay.  So then

         23  when you said it exceeds 7 and the State Bill says

         24  9, that is the difference.

         25                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Actually let me do just

                                                            54

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  a simple parallel.  For a first mortgage we said 5

          3  percent, the State now says 8 percent.  For a second

          4  mortgage we said 7 percent, the State now says 9

          5  percent.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And this is all

          7  about defining high- cost loans.

          8                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Exactly.  Which loans

          9  will be covered by the respective legislation, and

         10  which will be subject.

         11                 In our bill, as we move to the next

         12  category, in our bill we define, there practices

         13  define which loans are predatory.  In the State

         14  legislation, which is regulatory, they are either

         15  prohibited or restricted practices.  And to move

         16  onto those, the first that I - -

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Wait one second.

         18                 MR. SUCHMAN:  I am sorry.  The first

         19  of the high- cost loan practices I would like to

         20  address, and let me just say that many of these

         21  provisions in 11856 have not changed.  These are, I

         22  would say, more of the nuts and bolts type

         23  provisions.  And I will just quickly say those that

         24  have to do with, and they are all in the chart, call

         25  provisions, negative amortization, increased

                                                            55

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  interest rates, as when there is a default the loan

          3  agreement would call for jacking the interest rate,

          4  and that is prohibited, advance payments,

          5  modification or deferral fees, financing of

          6  insurance, home improvement contracts, these three

          7  there are limitations, encouraging default

          8  prohibition, and kickback to mortgage brokers for

          9  services or facilities that are not actually

         10  provided.

         11                 The legislation on the chart they are

         12  also basically the same on all of these points.  So

         13  I would like to speak to the differences.  And the

         14  first is balloon payments, I believe it is on page 4

         15  of the chart.  The old Assembly bill, last year's

         16  bill, provided there would be no balloon mortgages.

         17  Essentially, there would be no payments which were

         18  more than twice as large as the average prior

         19  payments.  In 67- A we adopted a standard from Part

         20  41, and you will remember at the hearing this

         21  received some criticism among others from the

         22  witnesses for Acorn.  What we did in 67- A was say

         23  that there could be no balloon payments within the

         24  first seven years.  Acorn, I think I am stating

         25  their position correctly, said no balloon payments
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          2  whatsoever.  Assembly bill 11856 took a different

          3  line, they do allow balloon payments, but not within

          4  the first 15 years from origination of the loan.

          5  And the Senate Chapter amendments adopt the same

          6  provision.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  You said the

          8  Chapter amendments/

          9                 MR. SUCHMAN:  The Chapter amendments.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  But they have not

         11  been passed yet?

         12                 MR. SUCHMAN:  They have not been

         13  passed, however, the Assembly bill, which has been

         14  passed by both houses, the same language.  You may

         15  have a balloon mortgage, but the balloon payment

         16  cannot be due or payable within the first 15 years.

         17  Essentially, you are saying you cannot have a

         18  balloon mortgage less than 15 years.

         19                 The next section I would like to

         20  comment on - -

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Is there an

         22  assumption on that, God forbid I should start

         23  assuming something about these pieces of

         24  legislation, but that by that time you would

         25  probably have your own personal finances as such
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          2  that you would refinance the loan, and we would not

          3  be in this high rate?  So within 1 years you could

          4  probably have a different situation.

          5                 MR. SUCHMAN:  I can repeat or remind

          6  you of the testimony that was received on May 6th,

          7  and I hope I accurately reflect both sides.  I think

          8  it was the consumer advocates position that people

          9  who have high- cost home loans should never be in a

         10  situation where they have balloon mortgages.  And

         11  the banks would say, oh, balloon mortgages are good

         12  because in fact your monthly payments are less

         13  because you are not amortizing the loan.  The two, I

         14  would say opposite views on the utility of balloon

         15  mortgages.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So the State

         17  Legislation that you cannot do it for 15 years, our

         18  piece says you cannot do it at all?

         19                 MR. SUCHMAN:  No.  Our piece as it

         20  appeared at the hearing on May 6th has a seven year

         21  limitation that you could not have a balloon

         22  mortgage of seven years left.  This is something

         23  that we have been taking a hard - -

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Intro. 67- A says

         25  what?
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          2                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Seven years, no balloon

          3  payments within seven years.  And this is something

          4  that we have been taking a hard look at.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay.  Council

          6  Member Barron.  I just wanted to ask very quickly

          7  about the balloon payment.  You know the 15- year

          8  loan the bankers are saying basically that this will

          9  give a person the opportunity if they wanted to, say

         10  buy or sell, or whatever, get lower payments.  And

         11  then we go down to seven, but how, you know what I

         12  am saying, how in 67- A that that is really getting

         13  at what we are talking about here in terms of

         14  predatory lending.  Because it still gives an

         15  opportunity for that to happen, even within a seven-

         16  year period.

         17                 So if we are trying to get at really

         18  defining what a predatory loan is, and protecting

         19  those who have been victims of that, I mean even

         20  within seven years, that seems, that could cause a

         21  problem for us, as well.

         22                 MR. SUCHMAN:  I think that that is

         23  something that has to be looked at.

         24                 I just want to clarify - -

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Some of these
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          2  points will be taken up in some other discussion,

          3  Councilman.  But I think it is important, an that is

          4  what I want this hearing to do, is to raise them,

          5  the staff may not be able, be in a position to

          6  argue.  And I think part of this is for us to have

          7  this evaluation component right now.  So they may

          8  not be in a position to answer it, but they are

          9  certainly here to hear it.

         10                 MR. SUCHMAN:  I would just comment

         11  that the chart shows proposed Intro. 67- A and it is

         12  dated as of May 6th, so it is limited as of that

         13  date, and does not necessarily reflect discussions

         14  after that date.

         15                 The next point I would like to make -

         16   -

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Just so I

         18  understand it - -

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Council Member

         20  Koppell.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: - -  wouldn't

         22   - -  Thank you, and I am sorry, Mr. Chairman, I did

         23  not ask to be recognized.  Wouldn't the Assembly

         24  bill, which says no balloon payment for 15 years,

         25  from the point of view from those who do not like
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          2  balloon payments, it would be better than what we

          3  have in 67- A?

          4                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Absolutely the case.

          5  The purpose of my testimony is to inform the

          6  Committee and not to state a position.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  I

          8  understand, I just want to clarify it for my own

          9  sake.  If you do not like balloon payments, the

         10  Assembly in this case, the bill that they passed is

         11  actually better than what we had in our draft.

         12                 MR. SUCHMAN:  If that is your

         13  position, it is true.  Although, once again, in line

         14  information it is a step back from the Assembly's

         15  bill of last year where they said no balloon

         16  payments whatsoever.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And just for the

         19  sake of this conversation, could we say that the

         20  State Legislature passed, because the only thing

         21  that is left is the amendments which is separate, so

         22  say the Assembly bill just may add, the Senate do

         23  it.

         24                 MR. SUCHMAN:  That State Law was

         25  passed.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay, because I am

          3  trying to keep it straight.  Council Member Barron.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Just so I can

          5  be very, very clear.  So basically we are saying the

          6  more years you put on a balloon payment, the better

          7  off we can perceive people to be who are against

          8  balloon payments.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  The more

         10  years of prohibition.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Right,

         12  exactly, the more prohibition of it, like say, 15

         13  would be much better than 7, if we are against

         14  balloon payment.  But of course zero would be, those

         15  of us who are against balloon payments, zero would

         16  be what we were looking for, even if they said 15 or

         17  20.  But the higher the year we get into balloon

         18  payment seems, I think Council Member Koppell was

         19  alluded to that it would be for those who were

         20  against balloon payment would be more apt to be

         21  supportive of higher years.  But those who are

         22  totally against should stick to zero, that would be

         23  some of the information.

         24                 MR. SUCHMAN:  I think that is an

         25  accurate statement of the position.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Why don't we move

          3  onto negative amortization.

          4                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Well actually negative

          5  amortization is fairly consistent through all the

          6  bills.  So I think I would like to move onto loan

          7  flipping which is on page 7.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And that is

          9  because almost all the other things increased

         10  interest rate, advanced payment modification is all

         11  fairly similar across the board?

         12                 MR. SUCHMAN:  They have been

         13  consistent throughout or there have been no

         14  significant changes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay, thank you.

         16                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Loan flipping, the only

         17  thing I want to point out here is in last year's

         18  Assembly bill, the Assembly prohibited the practice

         19  of loan flipping and basically that is refinancing

         20  loans, and the reason that would be done is because

         21  the lender would increase and get payments for

         22  points and fees.              Last year the Assembly

         23  prohibited the practice of loan flipping where

         24  three- quarters of the prior loan was at a better

         25  rate or would take more than five years to recoup
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          2  the points and fees, or it was a special loan, that

          3  is a government guaranteed loan that was below

          4  market rate.

          5                 In the bill that was just passed by

          6  both houses, they, in fact, adopted language, which

          7  is in the fourth column, under loan flipping, which

          8  more closely tracks what we did in 67- A.  Which,

          9  basically, engages the benefit of the loan to the

         10  bar, or that is, is there a tangible net benefit

         11  from the new home loan considering all the

         12  circumstances?  And that would be the terms of the

         13  new and old loan, the cost of the new loan, and the

         14  borrower's situation.  As I said, this is an area

         15  where the Assembly bill has actually moved closer to

         16  our 67- A.

         17                 Moving on, repayment ability, which

         18  is on page 7 going over to 8.  The old Assembly bill

         19  prohibited making or arranging for high- cost loans

         20  without due regard to the repayment ability based on

         21  consideration of current or expected income, current

         22  obligations of the borrower, employment status and

         23  other financial resources.  This language is also

         24  contained in the current bill, but they added the

         25  language that this information must be verified by
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          2  detailed documentation of all sources of income and

          3  corroborated by independent verification.  And here

          4  I would note that the Senate, in their Chapter

          5  amendments did not include the language and

          6  corroborated by independent verification.

          7                 Home loan counseling, pages 8 and 9.

          8  Both the old Assembly bill and Intro. 67- A required

          9  mandatory home loan counseling prior to making a

         10  high- cost home loan.  The Assembly has moved away

         11  from mandatory counseling and instead calls for

         12  notice provisions in the bill.  Essentially, when an

         13  application is made, a notice is sent to the

         14  applicant advising them on the utility and benefit

         15  of home loan counseling and providing them with a

         16  list of home loan counselors that it is maintained

         17  by the State Banking Department.  State Banking

         18  Department maintains the list of HUD certified home

         19  loan counselors.

         20                 The difference is we required it, we

         21  required that there be counseling, or we required

         22  that there be a notarized waiver of the counseling.

         23  And the Assembly bill merely requires information to

         24  the borrower.

         25                 Financing of points and fees, this
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          2  was also an issue in which the Committee heard a lot

          3  of testimony - -

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Page 9.

          5                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Sorry, page 9. - -  at

          6  the May 6th hearing.

          7                 Proposed 67- A defined as a predatory

          8  loan, one, where the points and fees financed by the

          9  loan exceed 5 percent of the total loan amount, and

         10  also, as a subset of that definition, or exceed 5

         11  percent of additional proceeds where the loan was

         12  refinancing a prior existing high- cost home loan.

         13                 The Assembly has adopted a more

         14  stringent requirement, that is, it prohibits

         15  financing of points and fees in excess of 3 percent

         16  of the principal amount of the loan.  This does move

         17  off the Assembly bill of last year where they

         18  prohibited any financing of points and fees.  But it

         19  is, I would say, stricter than Intro. 67- A.

         20                 The Senate, on the other hand, in

         21  their Chapter amendments adopted a 5 percent limit

         22  on the financing of points and fees.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Wait now, the

         24  Chair is confused.  The State Legislation now says

         25  you cannot, you can only have up to 3 percent, did
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          2  you just say.

          3                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Points and fees, those

          4  charges that are paid prior to or at the closing,

          5  which we discussed in threshold, where does the

          6  money come from.  Many borrowers do not have the

          7  resources to make that payment.  So what the lender

          8  that does is - -

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Make that payment

         10  up front.

         11                 MR. SUCHMAN: - -  he lends them the

         12  money, he finances in order to pay points and fees.

         13  The consumer advocates criticize this practice, and

         14  especially in the context of someone who wants to

         15  give a predatory loan, because they want their money

         16  up front.  So they are charging high points and

         17  fees, they are financing it through the equity in

         18  the house, and then, of course, they turn around and

         19  sell the mortgage.  And so they walk away having the

         20  lender having his big nut up front  A way to control

         21  this is to limit the amount of points and fees that

         22  can be financed.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So the State

         24  Legislation that has been passed limits that up to 3

         25  percent?
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          2                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Yes.  The points and

          3  fees that may be financed can be no more than 3

          4  percent of the loan amount.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So if you borrowed

          6  a thousand dollars, follow that out for me in your

          7  loan?

          8                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Say your points and

          9  fees, well, to do it, if I could make it simple for

         10  me, and I hope to explain it.  If your loan amount

         11  is $100,000 and say the points and fees went up to

         12  our threshold of 5 percent, so that would be $5,000

         13  points and fees.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Our threshold in

         15  our bill?

         16                 MR. SUCHMAN:  To get us in, yes, the

         17  threshold to get us into our category of high- cost

         18  loan.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Right.

         20                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Because we have to do

         21  that.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Right.

         23                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Only $3,000 of those

         24  points and fees could be financed by the loan, the

         25  remaining amount would have to come from another
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          2  source.  And the prohibition is on direct or

          3  indirect financing.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Council Member

          5  Barron, do you have a question?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Just to get

          7  some clarity.  So the prior Assembly bill had no

          8  financing of points and fees - -

          9                 MR. SUCHMAN:  No financing of points

         10  and fees whatsoever.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: - -  and went

         12  to 3 percent.  And then our Intro. 67 had none and

         13  went to 5 percent?

         14                 MR. SUCHMAN:  No, our Intro. - -

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Intro. 67- A

         16  went to 5 percent?

         17                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Yes, it is 5 percent.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  But 67 - -

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  It allows up to 5

         20  percent, is that right?

         21                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Okay, if you will look

         22  at the chart, there were many provisions that were

         23  not included in 67, so there was no provision

         24  regarding the financing at all in 67.  Intro. 67- A

         25  was our first attempt to address this.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  To put the

          3  provision in.

          4                 MR. SUCHMAN:  And you received quite

          5  a bit of testimony regarding that.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And so 67- A

          7  allows up to 5 percent in points and fees, where the

          8  State Legislature's bill that was passed - -

          9                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Refinancing, yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Right. - -  is

         11  only up to 3 percent, right?

         12                 MR. SUCHMAN:  That is correct.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you,

         14  continue.

         15                 MR. SUCHMAN:  And the last section, I

         16  would like to address is assignee liability.  This,

         17  I believe, was a very contentious - -

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Page 11.

         19                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Yes, it is the final

         20  section, page 11.  This was the most contentious

         21  issue, I believe, in Albany, assignee liability.

         22  And simply, assignee has to do with the secondary

         23  market in case of this legislation, high- cost home

         24  loans.  We do not have assignee liability per se.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  In other words,
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          2  this is when now, they sold off or somebody has

          3  purchased all of these mortgages that have been

          4  sold, this is the third person.  This is homeowner

          5  is the loan, and now it is the third person here is

          6  where it is signed off to somebody else.

          7                 MR. SUCHMAN:  That is correct, either

          8  they are buying the mortgages as such, or the

          9  mortgages have been securitized.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  The Security - -

         11                 MR. SUCHMAN:  The Securities have

         12  been issued.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  This is where the

         14  Securities and the Bond people come in?

         15                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Exactly.  The Assembly

         16  bill provides that in any action by an assignee to

         17  enforce a loan against a borrower in default more

         18  than 60 days, or in a foreclosure situation, the

         19  borrower may assert any claims in recoupment and

         20  defenses to payment that he would have had against

         21  the lender, the original lender.

         22                 The Senate Chapter amendment seeks to

         23  limit that secondary market liability.

         24                 The way our bill works is we define

         25  everyone, except the borrower, with a few
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          2  exceptions, people who do not really have control

          3  over what occurs as lender.  We define the secondary

          4  market players, those who take the mortgages and

          5  securitize them as a lender, we include them in

          6  doing business bill in that way.

          7                 And that concludes my portion of the

          8  testimony.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Questions?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Are they all

         11  finished?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I think so, unless

         13  you have a question for them.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  I have a

         15  question.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Were the,

         18  the Legislature passed bill, let me call it that, to

         19  become law, looking at in terms of its congruency

         20  with 67- A, which I guess was our last submission,

         21  would you identify any significant problem areas

         22  that we would still want to be addressing or that

         23  ought to be addressed, looking at 67- A as, let's

         24  say something that we want?

         25                 In other words, assuming the
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          2  Legislature passed bill, let's not look at the

          3  Chapter amendment for a moment, just the Legislature

          4  passed bill became law, would there be something

          5  more for the Council to do?

          6                 MR. SUCHMAN:  I think that the answer

          7  to that lies in the fact that the Council

          8  legislation has to do with who the City will and

          9  will not do business with.  There is, in fact,

         10  existing State Banking Regulation, which prohibits

         11  certain activities.  The Speaker determined that

         12  that was inadequate.  The Speaker has always said

         13  that a good State bill would remove the need for the

         14  Council to act.  Whether, in fact, this is a good

         15  State bill, I think the Speaker will have to make

         16  that determination.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  But if it

         18  includes pretty much everything that is in 67- A,

         19  then I would assume you would say it was a good

         20  State bill, wouldn't you?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Well I am not sure

         22  I am going to ask the staff to speculate, you know,

         23  what our Speaker is going to say, Council Member

         24  Koppell.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  I am not
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          2  asking what the Speaker would say.  I am asking the

          3  staff, what would, if the State Legislation were to

          4  pass, what would 67- A, if we took out everything

          5  that the State Legislation did from 67- A because it

          6  is now prohibited practice, right?  What would we

          7  still have to look at in terms of what banking

          8  institutions do?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I am certainly

         10  sure they may be able to respond to that or may not.

         11    But I will, but please forgive me, if I am

         12  assuming something incorrectly.

         13                 Our bill speaks to who we will do

         14  business with.  The State Legislation is about what

         15  defines predatory lending, what you can and cannot

         16  do.  Our bill is a separate bill, because we do not

         17  have the authority to define that.  We are simply

         18  saying, if you want to go on and do that behavior,

         19  this is the definition of the kind of behavior we

         20  want to see from a bank that we, the City of New

         21  York will do business with.  We cannot prohibit them

         22  from doing that business.  So, in the context of, I

         23  think, the decision that we will have to make

         24  legislatively is if we feel that the State's bills,

         25  the legislative bill so prohibits this, then we
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          2  don't, we are not, we feel people are protected.

          3  Therefore, it might be a moot question to have this.

          4    Right now we are not feeling that way, I think

          5  that it is right that we are not.  And so we are

          6  taking our authority to say whether you can do

          7  business with the City of New York.

          8                 So I think that, and if I may, again,

          9  not trying to assume anything about what you do or

         10  don't recognize in this, that is a political

         11  decision that I think we need to make.  I think what

         12  the staff is simply trying to do is to lay out the

         13  differences for us.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  I understand

         15  that entirely, Mr. Chairman, and I agree with you

         16  and I appreciate your clarification.  What I am

         17  trying to get at is, if a procedure is prohibited,

         18  let me just arbitrarily say, if they say no balloon

         19  payments, let me make it simple, and the State

         20  Legislation says no balloon payments, and that is

         21  the only thing we were worried about, then we would

         22  not have to pass a bill saying that we will not do

         23  business with anybody who does balloon payments,

         24  because nobody could do balloon payments, it would

         25  be prohibited.
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          2                 So if the Legislature passed bill

          3  prohibits pretty much all the things that concern

          4  us, than we do not need to pass our bill.  I think

          5  you said the same thing.

          6                 So, I guess what I am asking the

          7  staff is, if you look at 67- A as what we would

          8  like, is there anything, or what other things can

          9  you identify, I know you went through the list with

         10  me, but it was hard to follow, many of the things

         11  you said are prohibited by this legislation passed

         12  bill are things that we focused on in 67- A.  Have

         13  you isolated those things that are significantly

         14  different?

         15                 MR. SUCHMAN:  Okay, I think to answer

         16  this, you know, many of the categories of prohibited

         17  practices and the ones that we use to define

         18  predatory loans are recognized as areas, problem

         19  areas.  But our bill is right now quite different

         20  from the Assembly bill, because we would cover a

         21  larger loan pool, because our threshold is

         22  different, and that raises, you know, an issue, one

         23  that has to be addressed.

         24                 I mean, I don't know if this answers

         25  your question, if there are like other categories of

                                                            76

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  practice that should be considered, it does not

          3  occur to me at this moment.  There are some other

          4  little differences.  I mean, we have been looking,

          5  for instance, special mortgages, those that are

          6  below market, you know, government guaranteed

          7  special loans.  The Assembly added limitation on

          8  refinancing those.  We had actually been looking at

          9  that under the number of loan flipping the way that

         10  the old Assembly bill did.  But by in large, the

         11  categories do match.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Thank you.

         13  Mr. Chairman, I do not have any further questions,

         14  but I do have, once all the questions are answered,

         15  I do have a recommendation to make.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay.  Council

         17  Member Barron, I think was next, and then Sanders.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Just getting

         19  some clarity now, regulation in doing business, has

         20  it been the practice that even when certain things

         21  are regulated that you are not supposed to do, have

         22  they been able to still do business with New York

         23  City and violating these regulations?  And the

         24  reason I am raising that is because I wouldn't want

         25  us to abandon a political response in trying to, if
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          2  we determine, as Council Member Koppell was getting

          3  at that, the State had everything we want, whether

          4  it is 15 years for the balloon payment, whatever we

          5  work out these things, but whether I think we might,

          6  you think we still might have to do something

          7  politically, because in this state, this practice

          8  seems to have occurred in a lot of violations

          9  occurred, and enforcement is a question.  So,

         10  wouldn't the backup of a strong, political message

         11  from the City on doing business to make sure that if

         12  those who are in violation or not adhering to the

         13  regulations, that we would then have a backup of a

         14  strong, political message from the City Council that

         15  we will not do business with you, so that we do not

         16  rely on the State regulations to deal with predatory

         17  lending alone?

         18                 I just want to get some clarity from

         19  the staff on whether?

         20                 MR. SUCHMAN:  I would just answer the

         21  question this way that what we have said numerous

         22  times, there, obviously, are two different avenues

         23  that are being taken here.  One is by the State

         24  which does have the power to regulate the banking

         25  industry, and the City of New York only in this
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          2  circumstance has the power to do a doing business

          3  law.  Now I think what you are getting at is, should

          4  the City of New York be making a statement that we

          5  will not be doing business with predatory lenders,

          6  regardless of what the State does, and even if they

          7  do, shouldn't we do that as well?  And I think that

          8  is a question for the body and the Speaker to

          9  answer, if, depending on your feeling and your

         10  judgements of what Albany does or does not do.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Let me just

         12  ask you something technically.  Has it been a

         13  practice that business was done with lending

         14  institutions even when they violated regulations,

         15  State regulations?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  That business, I

         17  think, is conducted by the Comptroller's Office;

         18  isn't it?

         19                 MR. SUCHMAN:  We do not really have

         20  the information as whether we have done business

         21  with any predatory lenders in the past.  And I do

         22  not know presently, if anybody is keeping that

         23  information.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  It is not a

         25  question of predatory lenders, it is back through
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          2  the Security Market and the Bond Market.  No, we

          3  have not done business with predatory lenders,

          4  because they are not in the business of lending or

          5  borrowing money from lending money to the City.  It

          6  is the secondary market that is the target of what

          7  we are trying to do.  So, I do not think we know the

          8  documentation.  I think the problem is that that

          9  market has, in fact, lent money to people who have

         10  been predatory in their loan practices.  So, yes, I

         11  think the answer, if I rethink what I am saying to

         12  you, is, yes, that that is part of the problem.

         13  That Securities Markets, I do not want to name them

         14  today, we are trying to be kinder and gentle, has

         15  been putting money into this predatory market

         16  allowing this to go on.  So, yes.  Right now they

         17  have not been in violation of something because

         18  there has not been a law for them to be in violation

         19  of.  Is that correct?  Okay, Council Member Sanders.

         20    I know more about this than I thought.  Council

         21  Member Sanders.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Thank you,

         23  Mr. Chair.  Although, a worthy argument can be made

         24  that the corporations that have lent money to New

         25  York City have engaged in predatory practices to the
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          2  City, but I will not make that argument.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Do not take me

          4  back to reparations, James, just do not bring me

          5  there today, okay?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  I will not

          7  make that point today.  But I, there were many

          8  worthy points that came up from these very good

          9  people before us, and I think that I am going to

         10  change it up just a little bit, Sir, because they

         11  have done an outstanding job and I commend them for

         12  this.

         13                 But I have a question about this

         14  process, so far.  This bill, I believe, has been

         15  deliberated the longest of all the bills in City

         16  Council that we have been doing.  And as an old

         17  student of philosophy I am reminded of Europe's Dark

         18  Ages, where monks gather together to discuss how

         19  many angels could dance on the head of a pin, and

         20  that conversation went on and on and on.  And to

         21  this day, we do not have a satisfactory answer to

         22  it.

         23                 Now I am reminded of that because

         24  this conversation over predatory lending has been

         25  going on for a very long time.  And sometimes we
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          2  forget what we are talking about in here.  We are

          3  speaking about seniors losing their homes.  We are

          4  speaking about people seeing their shot at the

          5  American Dream go down the drain.  And while it may

          6  be very pleasant to further discuss these things, I

          7  think we have an obligation to lead.  I think we

          8  have an obligation to say that the conversation

          9  cannot go on forever, that we must deliberate and

         10  make sure that we do things in a sound manner.  But

         11  at the same time, after all is said and done, we

         12  have to go back to every day people, our

         13  constituents and say to them, we did everything that

         14  we could to make sure that there was an even playing

         15  field.  And that if you really struggle hard, and

         16  you want your house with the white picket fence, you

         17  can get it and not see it stolen away, and your part

         18  of the American Dream goes down the drain.

         19                 New York City has a long history of

         20  leading the nation, and indeed, the State.  And I

         21  think we should not be scared of such of very worthy

         22  history.  And I think that, because I am not even

         23  sure if the State is going to pass any legislation

         24  on this.  That we may be waiting for them and them

         25  waiting for us, and we may all join those monks back
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          2  in some cave looking at how many angels and

          3  discussing how many angels can dance on the head of

          4  a pin, while our constituents lose their homes.

          5                 So, I think somewhere along the line,

          6  we have to say are we negotiating in good faith, is

          7  there anyone across the table from us who is honest

          8  about really dealing with this issue?  And I must

          9  submit, not only a certain impatience, but I am

         10  starting to believe that we, perhaps, are not.  That

         11  this may be a long session, a long day's journey

         12  into, back into oblivion to do nothing about this

         13  issue.

         14                 So I wanted to just put that on the

         15  table, and I appreciate your patience, Sir.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Mr.

         17  Chairman.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Council Member

         19  Koppell.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Mr.

         21  Chairman, I think we are faced with an important

         22  dilemma here.  And, Mr. Sanders, I think that you

         23  have got to recognize where we are here.  If, there

         24  is this Chapter amendment that is swinging out

         25  there, I do know, whether this is true, and maybe
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          2  Counsel can have some conversations with the

          3  Assembly Committee people who will know exactly what

          4  the situation is.  But my guess is, if the Chapter

          5  amendment does not pass the Assembly, the Governor

          6  will not sign the bill, that is just my guess.

          7                 If the Chapter amendment does pass

          8  and the Governor signs it, it will do some good

          9  things in reading this.  It is not as good as the

         10  bill that the Legislature already has passed,

         11  because there is some provisions in the Chapter

         12  amendment that weaken it.  But the thing that is

         13  most disturbing about the Chapter amendment to me,

         14  is, at that point, Mr. Sanders, we are out of the

         15  picture, because the Chapter amendment says that no

         16  municipality, including the City of New York can

         17  pass doing business legislation.

         18                 I do not like that.  You know, we

         19  have talked for 20 years about the Urstat (phonetic)

         20  Law, I was there when we passed it in Albany.  I

         21  remember Charlie Urstat sitting on the floor of the

         22  Assembly, and all the Democrats castigating him.

         23  But we prohibited the City of New York for doing

         24  anything to regulate rents.  This is a similar thing

         25  in this Chapter amendment.
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          2                 I would urge, personally, and I am

          3  going to say it publicly, I would urge strongly that

          4  the Chair write a letter, which I would be happy to

          5  sign, to the Assembly Speaker, Mr. Silver, to the

          6  Chairman of the Assembly Banking Committee.  I

          7  assume that is the one that is considering this, or

          8  whichever Committee is considering it, and urge them

          9  not to pass the Chapter amendment, because it

         10  prohibits us from acting, even though it may do some

         11  good things.  Recognizing that, and this is the

         12  dilemma we face, that if the Assembly does not pass

         13  the Chapter amendment, probably no legislation on

         14  this subject will pass Albany at all.  It does not

         15  prevent us from acting right now.  So we could still

         16  act and pass 67- A or whatever version of that we

         17  want to pass.

         18                 So, in sum, while I do not think it

         19  is a totally question, totally free from doubt,

         20  because I think State legislation would be good.  I

         21  also have concerns for people who live in Buffalo

         22  and other places, which we cannot effect.  But, I am

         23  mostly concerned about people in the City of New

         24  York.  I am also concerned about the powers of this

         25  body.
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          2                 I also might say that I find it

          3  offensive that people who we were negotiating with

          4  went around the corner and up in Albany and got the

          5  Senate to pass this prohibition.  That is what they

          6  did, they negotiate with us on the one side, sitting

          7  across the table, and then they went to Albany and

          8  got the Senate to pass a bill that would prevent us

          9  from acting.  And you know, I can see that that is

         10  done, nobody has to tell me that that was done, I

         11  know how these things work.  They went up to Albany,

         12  while sitting across the table from us and saying we

         13  are negotiating with you and getting concessions

         14  from us, they then went up to Albany and convinced

         15  the State Senate to put something in the bill that

         16  would oust us from jurisdiction.

         17                 So I strongly recommend, Mr.

         18  Chairman, that we write a letter to the Speaker, as

         19  I indicated, and urge that the Chapter amendment be

         20  allowed to die.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  I concur,

         22  Sir.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Well, thank you.

         24  I think what we have tried to do in this hearing is

         25  actually happening, which is always a good thing.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Very good,

          3  Mr. Chairman, very good.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Is to have this

          5  healthy dialogue amongst ourselves, make sure we all

          6  understand to the best of our abilities where we are

          7  with this.  I would just ask our Counsel, first I

          8  want to thank our Counsel for the hard work that you

          9  have done, and I think the terrific work that you

         10  have done in trying to bring this to some reasonable

         11  language that we can understand, and your sticking

         12  with this.  And I think listening to what it is that

         13  we want to get out of legislation so I want to thank

         14  you for that.

         15                 It is my understanding that there are

         16  several amendments, right?  That the Chapter

         17  amendments there are several of them.  So, I believe

         18  the one that Council Member Koppell is referring to

         19  is the preemption amendment, right?  It is not all

         20  one big amendment, right?  Tish, do you want to

         21  speak to that?  Yes, but I mean, so - -

         22                 MS. JACKSON:  You are talking about -

         23   -

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  In other words, I

         25  am supportive of what Council Member Koppell is
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          2  asking of the Chair, and would be happy to do that.

          3  We do not have to have the technical piece of it

          4  right now, but there are different amendments,

          5  right?

          6                 MS. JACKSON:  Exactly.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Because we heard

          8  one amendment that we thought might strengthen the

          9  bill.  So I just do not want to blanket say, you

         10  know, do not pass any of them.

         11                 MS. JACKSON:  He is talking about the

         12  preemption section, which is Section 13 at the

         13  Senate Bill.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Mr.

         15  Chairman, with your permission?  Is the Chapter

         16  amendment one bill or more than one bill?

         17                 MS. JACKSON:  It is one bill.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  It is only

         19  one bill, Mr. Chairman.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Oh, so thank you,

         21  I did not understand.  I thought each amendment was

         22  a different bill.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  No.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So in other words

         25  to do what Council Member Koppell has asked of the
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          2  Chair, we would have to say do not vote for the one

          3  bill.

          4                 MS. JACKSON:  Right, the Chapter

          5  amendments.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  But the Chapter

          7  amendments are, in fact, one bill; am I right?

          8                 MS. JACKSON:  Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  You cannot

         10  separate them out?

         11                 MS. JACKSON:  No.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  You cannot say yes

         13  to this and no to that.

         14                 MS. JACKSON:  Correct.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay.  Well I will

         16  certainly, I think that is a good suggestion, and I

         17  certainly want to speak to our Speaker about it, but

         18  the Chair can certainly be independent of that.  And

         19  so I will solicited your comments and support in

         20  that letter.  I think what we want to assure my

         21  colleagues, before we wrap up, I promised myself we

         22  would be out of here at three, so I have one minute.

         23    And Joe Addabbo has been patient, he has come back

         24  from some place, I do not know where you have been,

         25  but he has been - -  was a good time.  Did you have
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          2  a comment you wanted to make?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Please, Mr.

          4  Chair, really quick.  As a Real Estate Attorney in

          5  my prior life, representing both buyers and sellers

          6  of properties, as well as institutional lenders, I

          7  do believe that there is room for us to work with

          8  the institutional lenders to find that we can work

          9  parallel with the State Legislature and do something

         10  on our own.  You know, following your leadership, if

         11  that be so.  Because I do think, my colleague, James

         12  Sanders has said, there are residents out there who

         13  are losing homes, and this is a problem.  It is a

         14  problem in my district, I am sure well across the

         15  City in many districts.  And to just leave them out

         16  there hanging while we wait, is, to me, a personal

         17  problem.  And I think we need to act in a more

         18  positive direction for the sake of our residents.

         19  And work can be done.  And again, I would like to

         20  foil the lead of this Committee to do so.

         21                 And also, because of my plane delay,

         22  I would like to vote yes, on Intro. 177- A, the name

         23  change.

         24                 (Changing the vote to 7 in the

         25  affirmative, 0 in the negative, and no abstentions.)
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.

          3                 Council Member Addabbo:  Thank you,

          4  Mr. Chair.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you, because

          6  that is what our Counsel want to make sure that you

          7  had an opportunity to do.

          8                 And I want to ensure the Committee

          9  that respecting and recognizing that we all would

         10  like to have a little time off in August, that we

         11  will be voting on predatory lending bill in the

         12  earliest part of September, I ensure you of that.  I

         13  think that we all are aware of what Council Member

         14  Sanders made so poignant that we are, that there are

         15  people out here right now, that are being hurt.  And

         16  we need to act.  But I do, also, recognizing, and I

         17  know that all of you do, that we have done an

         18  enormous amount of work this year as a Council body,

         19  old, new, or whatever they want to characterize it.

         20  And I am proud of the kind of work we have done, and

         21  proud of the fact that we have been trying to

         22  deliberate with all the concerned parties.  One of

         23  the concerns that we have candidly is that we come

         24  to some agreement between both the Administration

         25  and certainly, I do not see the advocates are

                                                            91

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  separate from us, since many of us, that is our

          3  roots.  And with term limits we are able to go right

          4  back to it.  Right, a majority of us still do the

          5  raising hell, anyway.  So, we are going to vote on

          6  this bill, on a bill, in September, and I am

          7  certainly looking for your leadership on how we come

          8  to the resolution of what the final language is.

          9                 And so, unless there is any other

         10  need for comment?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  I would just

         12  comment that you may not be able to.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Mr. Chair, if

         14  I may be recognized.  I just wanted to say this, I

         15  wanted to commend you at the pace that you are

         16  moving this bill.  I understand the urgency and I

         17  understand the importance of us protecting

         18  homeowners in our districts.  But we certainly want

         19  to make sure that we pass the right thing that is

         20  going to have the teeth to do what we really want to

         21  do.  So, I want to commend you, particularly, for

         22  today's hearing and getting a great understanding, I

         23  got as much information and understanding from you,

         24  as I got from the staff.  The way you facilitated

         25  it, and I am just very, very pleased that it is
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          2  moving in that direction.  The pace is important,

          3  the content of what we eventually pass is very, very

          4  important.  So, I appreciate your Chairmanship.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you very

          6  much Council Member Barron, and our Counsel reminds

          7  us that if we are able, sooner than September to

          8  come to some resolution of this, we will be voting

          9  on it, sooner than that.  So I do not want you to

         10  think we are not.  But on the other hand, I do not

         11  want to ask us to all come back for a special

         12  session in August to do this, mindful of all of

         13  that.

         14                 So with that comment, again, I want

         15  to thank our staff for that.  This meeting is

         16  adjourned.

         17                 (Hearing concluded at 3:00 p.m.)
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